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PROCEEDI NGS

MR, LARGE: Al right. Good afternoon,
everyone. Before we begin, | would Iike to go
over sone instructions for this video and
t el ephone conference.

| f you have joined online, please nute
your m crophone. |f you have called in via phone,
pl ease use the "nute" feature of your phone. Once
t he hearing begins, everyone will be nuted except
for those presenting. |f you have called in, you
can unnute yourself by pressing "star 6."

Wtnesses for the Applicant and anyone
W shing to nmake comments, please wait to be
i ndi vidual ly called upon by your attorney or by
the Division before speaking. Please nute your
m crophone anytinme you are not speaking and when
you have finished presenting to avoid any
f eedback.

| am now aski ng anyone who woul d Iike
to make coments, please state your nane slowy
and clearly for the Division. Please identify

whet her you are an unl eased m neral owner, working
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I nterest owner, or an owner with property in the
ORYX NSH unit. | would also like this information
from anyone who represents any of these persons.
W will make note of your nane and call upon you
when it is time for comrents.

So if you have joined us via WbEx,
pl ease unnute yourself now and tell us your nane
If you would Iike to make any comments.

MR CORCORAN: Good afternoon, this is
Dan Corcoran. | represent Lucky Land Managenent.
Lucky Land is the surface owner of the property
where the well pad is proposed for the ORYX unit.
And | would |ike to make comments.

MR, LARGE: Ckay. |'ve got your nane
witten down.

Anyone el se that would |ike to make
coment s?

Ckay. |If you have joined us via phone
today, please unnute yourself by pressing "star 6"
and state your nane if you would |ike to nake any
comrent s.

Okay. Hearing none.

So with that, we will begin the

pr oceedi ngs.
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Ms. Barrett.

M5. BARRETT: Thank you and good
afternoon. Today is Thursday, August 21st, 2025.
And we are here on the matter of the application
of EOG Resources Inc., for unit operation of the
ORYX NSH unit. This hearing before the Chio
Departnment of Natural Resources, Division of QI
and Gas Resources Managenent, is convened pursuant
to Ohio Revised Code Section 1509. 28.

My name is Jennifer Barrett. And | am
an adm nistrative officer for the Division. Also
with ne today is Program Adm nistrator Jeff Large.
we are conducting the hearing today and serve as
the Chi ef designees on this matter.

On June 24th, 2025, EOG filed with the
Di vision an application for unit operations for a
unit designated as the ORYX NSH unit. EOG fil ed
subsequent revisions to the application. The unit
I's proposed to be |ocated in Noble County, Chio.
Inits application, EOG clains to have the m neral
rights through voluntary agreenents to
approxi mately 2, 150. 2629 acres of the desired
approxi mate 2, 201. 6473-acre unit.

The purpose of today's hearing is to
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determ ne whether EOG s ORYX NSH unit application
neets all the requirenents of Revised Code Section
1509. 28. Under that section, the Chief of the
Di vi sion nmust issue an order if he determ nes that
the Applicant has shown that, one, the unit is
reasonably necessary to increase substantially the
ultimate recovery of oil and gas; and two, the
estimated additional recovery fromthe unit
exceeds the additional cost.

Nei t her the Chief nor any of us here
t oday have made any deci sions on ECG s
application. After today's hearing, we wl|l
review all of the information provided to us in
order to nake a determ nation. W have a court
reporter present as well, and we will have a copy
of the transcript of this hearing for review

The Chief's decision will be issued
through a Chief's Order, which will be posted on
the Division's website. Pursuant to Revised Code
Section 1509. 36, any order may be appealed wthin
30 days after the date upon which the person to
whom t he order was issued received the order and
for all other persons adversely affected by the

order within 30 days after the date of the order
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conpl ai ned of.

The hearing will proceed as foll ows:
ECG wi || present its witnesses and exhibits and
w Il answer questions posed by the Division staff.
Then any unl eased m neral owners, working interest
owners, and those persons with property included
In the proposed ORYX NSH unit will have the
opportunity to present questions and concerns to
the Division staff. And then the D vision staff
may take a break to determne if there are any
addi tional questions for the Applicant.

To proceed in an orderly fashion, we
ask that any interested party who speaks here
t oday pose any questions to the Division and we
w Il then ask any questions to EOG  Additionally,
anyone speaking today will be asked to provide
their information to the court reporter. |If you
are unconfortabl e speaki ng during the hearing, we
will also accept witten comments.

For purposes of the record, the
Di vi sion recei ved comments from Dani el Corcoran on
behal f of Lucky Land Managenent, LLC. These
comment s have been included as part of the record

for the ORYX NSH unit application.
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Addi tionally, Daniel Corcoran, on
behal f of Lucky Land Managenent, LLC, has
i ndi cated that he wi shes to make comments. And
t hose comments can be nmade at the end of the
heari ng.

W will now ask the Applicant to nake
Its introductions and begin its presentation.

MR, BARONZZI: Thank you and good
afternoon. M/ nane is Chris Baronzzi. |'man
attorney with Porter Wight Mrris & Arthur. M
col |l eague Bob Karl and | are here on behal f of our
client, EOG Resources, Inc., the Applicant.

ECG is asking the Division to grant an
order for unit operations of the ORYX NSH unit.
That unit is located in Brookfield, Oive, Noble
and Sharon Townshi ps of Noble County, Chio. For
conveni ence, EOG s witnesses and | may refer to
this unit as the "ORYX" unit.

As you wll hear from EOG s w tnesses,
and as of the date of the pre-hearing suppl enent,
EOG has a right to drill and produce oil and gas
fromnore than 97 percent of the acreage in the
proposed ORYX unit, which exceeds the 65 percent

threshold set by Ohio Revised Code Section
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1509. 28.

As can be seen fromthe col or-coded
map, which is on the screen, and as EOCG s
W tnesses will explain, the proposed ORYX unit
consists of 127 tracts, totaling approxi mately
2,202 acres. The ORYX unit will contain four
unconventional wells that each extend horizontally
through the unit for approximtely 16, 360 feet.

The wells, known as the 2C and 4C
wells, wll be drilled fromthe pad that will be
constructed near the mddle of the proposed unit.
And they will extend through the unit toward the
northwest. The wells, known as the 1D and 3D
wells, wll be drilled fromthat sane pad and
extend through the unit towards the southeast.

ECG seeks an order for unit operations
fromthe Division because there are two tracts of
| and in the proposed unit that are at | east
partially unleased and three tracts that are
| eased but have not been commtted to unit
operations by the working interest owners of those
| eases.

I n support of its application, EOG w ||

call three wtnesses: David Cox, geol ogic
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speci al i st; Dax Taylor, |and specialist; and John

Dwyer, reservoir engineering specialist, who wll

each testify that the application neets the
requi rements for granting an order for unit
operati ons under Chio Revised Code Section
1509. 28.

EOCG now asks for perm ssion to call
first wtness, David Cox.

MR. LARGE: And can we pl ease swear

the w t ness.

DAVI D COX
being first duly sworn, testifies and says as
foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR BARONZZI :

Q Good afternoon, M. Cox.
A Good afternoon.
Q Pl ease state your nanme and pl ace of

enpl oynent for the record.

David Cox at EOG Resources.

Q What is your position as ECG?
A. | "' ma geol ogi cal specialist.
Q Wul d you pl ease describe to the

its

in

12
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13

Di vi si on your educational background before
becom ng a geol ogi cal specialist at EOCG including
any degrees that you hol d?

A. Yeah. I n 2005, | graduated fromthe
University of Calgary with a Bachel or of Science
degree in geol ogy.

Q After you receive that bachelor's
degree fromthe University of Calgary, did you
begi n worki ng as a geol ogi st?

A. Yes. |Imedi ately upon graduati ng.

Q Can al so descri be your professiona
experience and work history for the D vision.

A Ckay. From 2005 to 2007, | worked for
Petrel Robertson Consulting, helping out with

regi onal mapping projects. And from 2007 to 2012,
| worked for Husky Energy, where | worked in the
West ern Canadi an Sedi nentary Basin. And from 2012
to 2015, | worked for EOG Resources in the
Canadi an Division, where | focused on exploration
with sone devel opnent drilling in various

formati ons. Then from 2015 to 2022, | worked for
EOG Resources in the Denver Division, working
primarily in the Powder River and DJ Basins in

bot h expl orati on and devel opnent rol es.
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Finally, from Cctober of 2022 unti
now, | worked for the Cklahoma Division, initially
devel opi ng our Wodford assets in the Anadarko
Basi n and now focusing on the Utica Play in the
Appal achi an Basi n.
Q Are you a nenber of any professiona
associ ati ons?
A. Yes. |'ma nenber of the Anerican
Associ ati on of Petrol eum Geol ogi sts.
Q Pl ease descri be your work as a geol ogic
speci al i st for EOG?
A. | "' mone of the geol ogists responsible
for the geological information necessary to
devel op permts and drilling plans for the
devel opnent and drilling of Utica-Point Pleasant
assets owned or operated by EOCG

So to acconplish this, nmy daily
activities include geol ogic mapping, well |og
anal ysi s, geologic risk assessnent using seismc
data, acreage eval uations, well prognosis
generation, and horizontal well planning. | also
coordinate with our geosteering teamto keep our
wells within the intended geol ogic target.

Q M. Cox, are you famliar with the

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

15

application for unitization of the ORYX unit,

i ncl uding the geol ogy exhibits that appear in that
application?

A Yes, | am

Q Did you hear ny sunmary and

i ntroduction of the ORYX unit a few nonents ago?
A Yes.

Q Was ny description consistent with your
under standi ng of the ORYX unit and your geol ogic
anal ysi s that supports the application for
unitization?

A Yes, it was.

Q Pl ease describe what the term"unitized
formati on" neans with respect to the ORYX unit.

A. 50 feet above the top of the Utica
Shale to 50 feet below the top of the Trenton

Li mest one formation.

Q Did you do any analysis to determne if
the unitized formation is a pool or a part of a
pool, as required for unitization under Ohio | aw?
A Yes.

Q Are you aware that the word "pool" has
a specific neaning for purposes of EOG s

application under Chio | aw?
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A Yes.

Q Under Chio | aw, what does it nean to
say that a unitized formation is a pool or a part
of a pool ?

A. A pool is an underground reservoir
contai ning a common accunul ati on of oil or gas, or
bot h, but does not include a gas storage
reservoir. Each zone of a geol ogical structure
that's conpletely separated fromany other zone in
the sane structure may contain a separate pool.

Q s that definition used for purposes of
t he geol ogi c anal ysis and the ORYX unit and
application?

A Yes, it was.

Q What information did you anal yze to
determ ne whether the unitized formati on was a
pool or a part of a pool ?

A | | ooked at avail able core reports, nud
| ogs, electrical |og data, including nearby
vertical wells.

Q If I can direct your attention to
Exhibit F fromthe application, it's the map
that's on the screen now. Can you pl ease describe

what this map shows and why it is relevant to your
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geol ogi ¢ anal ysi s?

MR. COX: Yes. The map shows the ORYX
unit as a red-outlined shape in the mddle of the
map, with two vertical wells shown as red squares.
Those vertical wells were used to describe the
portion of the Ui ca-Point Pleasant pool within
the ORYX unit.

Q If I can now direct your attention to
Exhibit E fromthe application, which is on the
screen. Can you pl ease explain what this exhibit
Is and how it relates to geol ogi c anal ysis?

A Yeah. This is a cross-section of the
vertical wells identified on the previous nmap.
Artex Ol's Reed Onen &2 is on the left, and ECG s
Frec Nobl Aive A-1 well is on the right. 1In the
mddle is a proposed ORYX NSH unit, with the
expect ed depths of the relevant formations.

CGeol ogi ¢ mappi ng shows that the ORYX
unit underlies entirely within the Point Pleasant
pool and is of the sane approxi mate thickness and
reservoir quality throughout the unit area, as
shown by the wells in the cross-section.

Thi s hydrocarbon accumul ati on extends

inall directions fromthe proposed unit, and the
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rock properties, such as lithol ogy, porosity, and
fluid type, are very simlar throughout the entire
unit and constitute a comon source of supply.
This is shown by the gamma ray, resistivity, and
porosity logs on the cross-section. Al of the

| ogs shown have very sinmlar characters.

Q Can you explain how gamma ray works and
why it's relevant to your geol ogi c anal ysi s?

A. Yeah. The gamma-ray |og records the
anount of natural gamma radiation emtted by the
rocks surroundi ng the borehole. The gamma-ray | og
Is used to help correlate different formati ons and
derive lithol ogies, for exanple, sandstone, shale,
and car bonates.

Q And how is gamma ray or the gamma-ray
|l og reflected on the slide on the screen?

A. The gamma-ray log is a green curve for
all three wells. And as you can see, they are

al nost a perfect overlay of each other.

Q What do these gammma-ray well |ogs tel
us about the ORYX unit if anything?

A. Based on the data fromthese wells, |
woul d expect the gamma-ray signature of the

Utica-Point Pleasant formation in the ORYX unit to

18

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video

Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

19

be consistent with the two vertical well |ogs.
Q | al so have heard you nention
"resistivity." Can you explain how resistivity

works and why it is relevant to your geol ogic

anal ysi s?

A. Yeah. The resistivity | og neasures the
el ectrical resistivity of the formation in
ohmneters. It is used to determne the formation
fluid type: water or hydrocarbons. So

wat er - bearing formations typically have | ow
resistivity, while hydrocarbon-bearing formations

typically have high resistivity.

Q And how is resistivity reflected on the
slide?
A. The resistivity log is the red curve

for both vertical wells and they have simlar
characteristics fromwell to well. This indicates
that there is uniform hydrocarbon saturation
across the ORYX unit.

Q And last, | heard you nention
"porosity." Can you explain porosity and why it
Is relevant to your geol ogic anal ysis?

A. Yeah. The porosity of a rock is a

measure of storage space or enpty space wthin the
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rock. It is one of the logs used to estinmate the
vol une of hydrocarbons stored in a formation.
Neutron porosity is a neasure of the anmount of
hydr ogen atons present in the reservoir fluid and

hel ps identify the fluid type.

Q How was porosity reflected on the
slide?
A. Density porosity is a black curve, and

neutron porosity is the blue curve on the
cross-sections for both vertical wells.

As you can see, both the density and
neutron porosity values are very simlar in both
vertical wells, which indicates a uniform anount
of storage across the ORYX unit.

Q M. Cox, did you use the data and

anal ysis you just described to forma professional
opi ni on about whether the unitized formation
described in the application for unitization of
the ORYX unit is a pool or a part of a pool?

A Yes.

Q What is your professional opinion in

t hat regard?

A. That the unitized formation is part of

a pool .

20
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Q s there a uniformthickness across the
unitized formation in the ORYX unit?

A Yes, it is.

Q What is the thickness of the
Utica-Point Pleasant interval within the ORYX
unit?

A It is 280 feet thick based on the data
fromthe identified vertical wells.

Q | see on the slide on the screen, there
Is alittle green box that says "Hz Target Zn";
VWhat is that?

A That is where we will drill the

hori zontal well.

Q What is the height of that target zone
where you will drill the horizontal well?

A It's 50 feet.

Q G ven your opinion that the unitized

formation is a part of a pool and has uniform

t hi ckness across the unit, in your professional
opi nion, would it be appropriate to allocate unit
expenses and paynents of the proceeds of oil and
gas production fromthe ORYX unit on a surface
acreage basis?

A. Yes, it woul d.
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Q And in your experience, is it common to
al |l ocate paynents on a surface acreage basis for

hori zontal devel opnent in the Ui ca-Point Pleasant

Shal e?
A Yes.
Q Thank you, M. Cox.
MR. BARONZZI: Those are ny only
guestions. |I'msure the Division will have a few

extra questions for you.

THE W TNESS: Ckay.

MR, LARGE: Hi . Could you tell ne what
the anticipated true vertical depth of the
hori zontal portion of this wellbore would be?

THE WTNESS: Yeah, sure. It wll be
7,060 feet.

MR. LARGE: And could you tell ne the
anticipated true vertical depth of the top of the
Utica, the Point Pleasant, and the Trenton
formati ons?

THE W TNESS:. Yeah. The top of the
Uica wll be at 6,840 feet; top of the Point
Pl easant will be at 7,025 feet; and the top of the
Trenton Linmestone will be at 7,128 feet.

MR. LARGE: And do you expect any
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production from outside the Point Pleasant?

THE WTNESS: Maybe a small anmpount out
of the base of the Uica, where the porosity is a
little bit higher.

MR, LARGE: kay.

Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?

M5. BARRETT: No, | do not. Thank you.

MR. LARGE: Thank you.

M. Baronzzi, if you would like to cal
your next W tness.

MR. BARONZZI : Thank you.

ECG cal |l s Dax Tayl or.

MR. LARGE: And can we please swear in

t he w t ness.

DAX TAYLOR

being first duly sworn, testifies and says as
fol | ows:

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR BARONZZI :
Q Good afternoon, M. Taylor. Please
state your nane and pl ace of enploynent for the
record.

A My nane is Dax Taylor. And I work for

23
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EOG Resources I nc.

Q What is your position at ECG?
A. | ama | and speci al i st.
Q Can you describe for the panel your

educati onal background?

A. Yes. | have a BBA in energy commerce
from Texas Tech University and an MBA fromthe
Uni versity of Gkl ahoma.

Q Can you pl ease descri be your

pr of essi onal experience in the oil and gas

I ndustry?

A. Yes. | started nmy career with Encana
Ol and Gas. | spent two years there, working on
Texas, Louisiana, and M ssissippi asset teans
before | started at EOCG Resources, where |'ve been
wor king for 11 years on Texas, Cklahoma, and Chio
asset teans, working on our Ui ca-Point Pleasant
asset for the last four years.

Q Are you a nenber of any professiona
associ ations?

A Yes. |'ma nenber of the Anerican
Associ ation of Professional Landnen.

Q Are there continuing education

requi renments to maintain that nenbership?
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A. Yes. To maintain ny registered

prof essi onal | andman designation, | amrequired to
obtain 25 continuing education credits for every
five-year period.

Q WI 1l you pl ease descri be your work and
responsibilities as a |and specialist with EOCG?
A Yes. As a land specialist, | help
facilitate the devel opnent of EOG s Utica Shal e
asset and manage all aspects of |andwork,

I ncluding but not [imted to | ease acquisitions,
title review, organic |easing, trade agreenents,
and devel opnent pl anni ng, anong ot her things.

Q Did you assist with preparing the
application for unitization of the ORYX NSH unit?
A Yes.

Q Did you hear ny introduction of the

ORYX unit and application at the beginning of this

heari ng?
A Yes.
Q Was it an accurate description of the

ORYX unit application for unitization?
A Yes.
Q If I can now direct your attention to

Exhibit D fromthe application for unitization,
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the color-coded map. Is this a depiction of the
proposed ORYX unit?

A Yes.

Q What woul d be the size of the ORYX unit

if it is drilled under a unit order as planned?

A. It will be 2,201.6473 acres.
Q Wiere is it | ocated?
A. Wthin Brookfield, Noble, dive and

Sharon Townshi ps of Nobl e County, Ohio.

Q Can you descri be what other information
I's depicted on this map?

A. This is an overview map that shows all
127 tracts that are included within the ORYX unit.
Each of those tracts is identified wwth a unit
track nunber, tax parcel nunber, and track
acreage, and nore detailed maps and tables are in
t he application.

Al'l of the tracts in the unit are also
categorized on this map by their status within the
unit. Yellow tracts are | eased and consenti ng.
Green tracts are non-consenting. Crosshatched
yel l ow-and-red tracts are partially | eased and
consenting and partially unleased. And red tracts

are unl eased. The black dotted line illustrates
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t he 400-foot setback from unl eased or
non-consenting tracts, as required by law. And
the blue dashed line identifies the |ocation where
this overview map is divided into submaps, for

pur poses of show ng greater detail in the
application. Last, the blue dot shows the

approxi mate pl anned surface | ocati on.

And of course, the map shows the four
wells that EOG plans to drill and produce fromthe
Ui ca- Point Pl easant pool.

Q What is the status of construction of
the well pad?

A The pad has not yet been constructed.
Q What is the expected | ength of the

| ateral portion of the ORYX wells if an order for
unit operations is granted?

A. The lateral length is planned to be
16, 360 feet | ong under an order for unit

oper ati ons.

Q What is the spacing at the toes of the
units?
A. 150 feet between the end of each

| ateral to the boundary of the unit.

Q What is the spacing between | aterals
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inside the unit, and also fromthe last |ateral on
each side to the boundary of the unit on that

si de?

A. The i nternal spaci ng between the

| aterals will be approximtely 1,450 feet. And
the spacing fromthe lateral to each side of

the -- on each side to the boundary of the unit
will be 725 feet.

Q What is your expected devel opnent
timeline for the unit?

A We plan to drill and conplete the wells
wWthin the tine frame specified in the Chief's
Order, if in orders issued.

Q What percentage of the unit is
committed to unit operations?

A. Approxi mately 97.666091 percent of the
unit is conmtted to unit operations.

Q Who are the commtted working interest

owners in the unit?

A Just EOG Resour ces.

Q Are there uncomm tted working interest
owner s?

A Yes.

Q Who are the uncomm tted working
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I nterest owners?

A. Qul f port Appal achia, LLC, Ascent
Resour ces-Utica, LLC

Q What percentage of the ORYX unit is

| eased but not commtted to unit operations?

A. Approxi mately 1.757184 percent.

Q | understand there are two unl eased or
partially unleased tracts in the ORYX unit; is
that true?

A Yes. Tracts 25 and 80 are unl eased.
Q What percentage of the unit is
conprised of unleased interests?

A Approxi mately 0.576725 percent.

Q Do you know how many acres in the unit
t hose unl eased interests account for?

A. Approxi mately 12.6975 net acres.

Q W11l you pl ease generally describe
EOG s efforts to | ease the owners of the unl eased
m neral interests and to commt the owners of the
non-consenti ng working interests?

A Yes. Qur efforts are detailed in our
| easing efforts affidavit and spreadsheet in the
application for unitization.

But general ly speaking, we have
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corresponded with the unl eased m neral owners and
each non-consenting working i nterest owner and
requests that they |lease their interest to EOG

O in the case of non-consenting working interest
owners, we have asked that they commt their
interests to unit operations. That correspondence
was done by phone, enmail, in-person neetings, and
we sonetinmes al so send nailings.

Q WIIl EOG continue its efforts to | ease
the unl eased m neral owners and commt the

uncomm tted working interest owners even after
this hearing?

A. Yes, we wll.

Q Let's talk for a nonent about the unit
plan that was included within the application for

unitization. Are you famliar with that unit

pl an?

A Yes.

Q What is its purpose?

A. It's twofold: It helps define the

respective rights of the parties in the unit, and
it conbines the oil and gas rights of all tracts
in the unit as if they were a single tract, for

pur poses of managenent, production, and

30
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devel opnment fromthe unitized formation within the
unit, which is part of a common pool.
Q How wi I | paynents be allocated pursuant

to the unit plan?

A. On a surface acreage basis.
Q What is the reason for that?
A For the reasons di scussed by our

geol ogi sts, mainly uniformty of the formation.
Q Do you know if that is common in Ohio,

specifically for the Utica-Point Pleasant play?

A Yes.

Q Who pays unit expenses?

A The participating working interest
owners.

Q Do royalty owners pay unit expenses

under the terns of the unit plan?
A No.
Q Thank you, M. Tayl or.

MR. BARONZZI: Those are ny only
questions. I'msure the Division wll have sone
addi ti onal questions for you.

MR. LARGE: Thank you.

Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?

M5. BARRETT: Yes, | do.
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CRCSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY M5. BARRETT:
Q What is the current average outstandi ng
offer to the unleased mneral owners in the
proposed unit?
A. The current average outstanding offer

is $3,000 an acre and 18 percent royalty.

Q That 18 percent based on a net or gross
anount ?
A The offer would be at a net. But it's

a negoti ati on between us and the owners.

Do those offers include surface use?
Yes, they do.

WI Il those offers expire?

They will not.

o >» O > O

What is the average offer that was
accepted by the | eased mneral owners in the
proposed unit?

A. Qur average accepted offer is $2,226.27
per acre and 18. 36 percent royalty.

Q Can you explain the difference between

the current outstanding offer and the average
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of fer that was accepted?

A Yeah. The difference is when the
current | eases were negotiated and accepted. The
time frame on that versus the current outstanding
situation, with higher conpetition and being

cl oser to our operations date.

Q Do you believe your | ease attenpts have

been reasonabl e?

A. | do.
Q And can you expl ain why?
A. Due to the success that we have had

within the unit, we've taken several |eases within
this. And then al so our success in the
surroundi ng area over the course of the |ast few
years.

Q WI1l you continue attenpts to | ease the
unl eased m neral owners even after a unitization
order is issued, if one is issued?

A. Yes, we wll.

Q Do you believe your attenpts to commt
t he non-consenting working interest owners have
been reasonabl e?

A Yes, | do.

Q Can you expl ain why?
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A W have made contact with those owners
over a reasonable anount of time and conversed
with themon what they want to do with their

I nterests, which they have not commtted one way
or another to date.

Q WI 1l you continue your attenpts to
commt those non-consenting working interest

owners after today's hearing?

A. Yes, we wl|.
Q Do the leases in the unit authorize
drilling into and producing fromthe proposed

unitized formations?

A. Yes, they do.

Q To establish bonus and royalty anounts
In | eases, how are those generally determ ned?

A. They are typically determ ned by the
current nmarket dynam cs, meani ng what the
commodity price is at the tinme, what the
conpetition level is like. And we also ask our
reservoir engineers to give us an anal ysis.

Q Do you believe the non-consent penalty
i ncluded in your JOA is reasonabl e?

A Yes, | do.

Q Can you expl ain why?

34
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A. It is the typical non-consent penalty
that has been used for many years within these
unit orders.
Q Ckay. Thank you.

M5. BARRETT: No further questions for

THE WTNESS: Thank you.

MR. LARGE: Thank you.

Pl ease call your next wtness.

MR. BARONZZI: EOG calls John Dwyer.
MR, LARGE: And can we please swear in

the w t ness.

JOSEPH DWYER
being first duly sworn, testifies and says as
fol |l ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR BARONZZI :

Q Good afternoon, M. Dwer.

A Good afternoon.

Q Pl ease state your name and pl ace of
enpl oynent .

A. My nane is John Dwer. | work at EOCG
Resour ces.

35
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Q What is your position at ECG?
A. |"ma reservoir engineering specialist.
Q Can you pl ease describe for the

Di vi si on your educational background before you
becanme a reservoir engineering specialist at EOG
i ncl udi ng any degrees you hol d?

A Sure. | hold a chem cal engineering
degree from Purdue University and a Master of
Busi ness Admi nistration fromthe University of

M chi gan.

Q Please tell the Division about your

pr of essi onal and work experience since receiving
your engi neering degree from Purdue University.
A. | have worked in the industry for over
12 years now. In chronological order, | have
wor ked at Halli burton, Witing Petrol eum Devon
Ener gy, and EOG Resources.

My background i ncl udes extensive
operations and technical experience in fracturing,
wel |l intervention, asset devel opnent, and
reservoir sinmulation. M experience spans the
W liston, Anadarko, Delaware, and Utica Basins.
Q Are you a nenber of any professiona

associ ati ons?
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A. | am The Society of Petrol eum
Engi neers.
Q Can you pl ease descri be your

responsibilities and work as a reservoir

engi neering specialist for EOG?

A. My primary job responsibilities are to
forecast future production for both producing and
undevel oped wells. | use these forecasts to
estimate the reserves, recoveries, and econom csS
for various devel opnent scenarios. Using this

I nformation, ny team nenbers and | recomend how
ECG shoul d develop its assets to naxim ze val ue
and resource recovery.

Q Are you famliar wiwth the application
for unitization of the ORYX NSH unit?

A Yes.

Q Did you hear ny sunmary and

I ntroduction of the ORYX unit, as well as the
testinony of M. Cox and M. Taylor this

af t ernoon?

A Yes.

Q Was ny description and the prior
testinony consistent with your understandi ng of

the ORYX unit at the tinme you estimated the
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econom cs and production volunes for the ORYX unit
as set forth in the application?

A Yes.

Q | understand you have anal yzed
potential recovery of oil and gas in the ORYX unit
and the associ ated econonm cs of the unit under two
scenarios. First is if the ORYX unit was drilled
wi thout an order for unit operations. Secondly,
if it was drilled with the benefit of an order for
unit operations fromthe Division; is that right?
A. Yes. That's correct.

Q Al right. Let's talk first about
exactly what the well configurations would be in
each of those scenarios so that we can understand
your econom c engi neering analysis, and we wl|
discuss themlater. | wll start by directing
your attention to Exhibit D fromthe application,
which is the col or-coded map on the screen now.
Are you famliar with this mp?

A Yes, | am

Q Does this map accurately depict the
configuration of the wells and unit as the basis
of your engineering and econon c anal ysis?

A. Yes, 1t does.
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Q Tell the Division, if EOGis granted an
order for unit operations, what will be the extent
and configuration of the wells in the ORYX unit?
A. The ORYX unit is planned as a four-well
unit. The lateral length of each well will be
16,360 feet in length. And it will have a centra
pad wth two wells extendi ng sout heast and two
extendi ng northwest. The wells will have an

I nternal well spacing of approximately 1,450 feet.
They wll be set back fromthe eastern and western
unit boundaries by 725 feet and set back 150 feet

fromthe northern and sout hern unit boundari es.

Q W1l EOCG produce fromthe whole I ength
of each lateral, if unitized?

A Yes.

Q WIIl the entire unit be devel oped and

produced under an order for unit operations as

pl anned?
A Yes.
Q And as pl anned under an order for unit

operations, do you expect any production outside
the ORYX unit?
A No.

Q | f EOG does not receive an order
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aut hori zing unit operations, what woul d be the
configuration and extent of the wells in that
scenari 0?

A. If EOG attenpted to devel op the unit

W t hout an order for unit operations, three of the
four wells would be shorter. And in two cases,
much shorter, due to the |ocation of
non-consenting or unleased tracts within the unit.
VWhile the 4C well would not be affected, the 2C
well could only be drilled to a total of 9,748

| ateral feet; the 1D would be Iimted to 15,234
feet; and the 3D would be limted to 7,620 feet.

Q From an econom ¢ perspective, would EOCG
actually drill any of these wells in the proposed

ORYX unit without the unitization order fromthe

Di vi si on?
A. No. Not this tine.
Q Let's tal k about econom cs and

production in both the unitized and non-unitized
scenari os as you have analyzed them And for
that, I want to direct your attention to the
econom cs tables.

Are these the econom cs tables on the

screen that were included in the pre-hearing
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suppl enental application for unitization of the
ORYX unit that you just nentioned?

A. Yes, they were.

Q Tell the Division what these tables
show, generally speaking.

A Sure. So the first table above is the
unitized scenario, the mddle table is the
non-unitized scenario, and the final table is the
di fference between the two.

Q Do these tables show the difference in
| ateral |ength between the unitized and
non-unitized scenario that you testified about
previ ousl y?

A. Yes. If you look at the bottomtabl e,
which is the difference table, the second col um
has the difference in lateral |ength.

Q When maki ng your cal cul ati ons, what did
you | ook at to estimate potential productions in
the ORYX unit?

A. Production from and configuration of
near by wel | s.

Q If I can now direct your attention to a
map on the screen titled "Anal ogue Wl |l Map."

Does this map show the wells used in your analysis
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for purposes of estimating production and

econom cs fromthe ORYX unit?

A Yes, it does.

Q Can you explain what all is shown on
this map?

A. Sure. These are anal ogue wel | s that

were used to estimate the performance of the ORYX
devel opnents. The wells shown with green lines
are wells that are either drilled, being drilled,
permtted, or unitized but not yet producing. The
well's shown with black Iines are currently
producing. And the wells shown with black Iines
and a nunbered | abel are anal ogue wells that we
use for the purpose of estimating production from
the ORYX wells.

Q Can you explain why you sel ected these
wells with the nunber | abels on them for purposes
of estimting production economcs fromthe ORYX
wel | s?

A Yeah. We use these wells due to their
simlar geol ogical characteristics and proximty
to the proposed ORYX unit.

Q Directing your attention now to the

anal ogue well table that's on the screen. Does
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the information on this table relate to the
nunber ed anal ogue wells we were just discussing
fromthe anal ogue well map?

A Yes, it does.

Q What infornation does this table
provide and why is it relevant to your engineering
anal ysi s?

A. This tabl e provides specific well
details that correspond with wells |abeled in the
anal ogue well map. This information is relevant
because it shows we considered the producing tine

of the wells in proximty to the proposed ORYX

unit.
Q | see the last colum there is
identified as "SHL to SHL." |Is that an

abbreviation for surface hole location to surface
hol e | ocati on?

A That is correct. It is the surface
hol e | ocation of the existing wells, to our best
guess or best estimates of the surface hole

| ocation of the wells we are proposing.

Q Now, | don't see anywhere on this

anal ogue well table that it shows production data

fromthe anal ogue wells. But did you have access
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to production data fromeach of the anal ogue

wel | s?
A. Yes, we did.
Q And did you consider the production

data from each of those anal ogue wells in

estimating the production and economics for the

ORYX wel | s?
A Yes.
Q M. Dwyer, are there any ot her

hori zontal wells drilled into the Utica Point

Pl easant pool within the same townshi ps as the
ORYX unit wells?

A Yes.

Q Do we have an understanding as we tal k
about adj acent wells, that when we use the term

"adj acent wells,” what we nean are wells that are
in the sanme townshi ps as the ORYX wel|ls and
drilled into the sane unitized formation?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. Now directing your attention to
the adjacent well map on the screen. Does this
map show all adjacent wells and units?

A Yes.

Q Can you just wal k us through
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specifically what this map shows?

A Sure. it shows the ORYX units in the
bl ue- shaded rectangle. The blue lines in the blue
shaded rectangle are the four proposed ORYX wel | s
t hensel ves. The |ight-green-shaded boxes are

ot her horizontal drilling units in the area. And
the green lines are wells that are either drilled,
being drilled, permtted, or unitized, but not yet
pr oduced.

Q | also see there are sone of these

| i ght-green boxes with black |ines; what are

t hose?

A. Yes. The black lines represent wells
that are producing.

Q And finally |I see, there are nunber

| abel s on the wells. Wy are sonme of them

nunber ed?

A Sure. The nunbered | abels are the --

those are the identified adjacent wells on the

map.
Q Are all these wells also identified on
a table?

A Yes.

Q We can turn now to the adjacent well
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table, which is on screen. |Is that the table you
are just referring to?

A. Yes. That identifies the wells by nane
and APl nunber.

Q Did you count all of these adjacent
units and adjacent wells in your analysis of the
econom cs and potential production fromthe ORYX
unit and wells in the application for unitization?
A Yes.

Q | amgoing to turn back nowto the
econom cs tables. You have al ready di scussed the
“Lateral Length" columm, which is the second
colum fromthe left. | want to continue to work
left to right fromthat "Lateral Length" col um.
And the next columm is "Measured Depth." Can you
descri be, what is nmeasured depth and how does it
differ fromlateral |ength?

A Sure. The neasured depth includes the
vertical and | ateral sections of the wells.

Q Now, when these wells are actually
drilled, do you expect to have any changes to this
esti mat ed nmeasured depth nunber that is included
in the econom cs table?

A. Yes. We would actually expect there to
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be a slight increase in the total neasured depth
that is calculated once we survey and drill the
wel | path. But we do not expect that to
materially change the production or econom cs
present ed today.

Estimates of capital costs,
performance, and econom cs are driven by the
| ateral |ength assunptions as opposed to the
nmeasured depth assunptions. This is because
costs, performance, and econom cs are esti mated
using a data set that accounts for these
variabilities.
Q So you are saying that even if the
as-drilled neasured depth m ght vary fromwhat is
shown on this table, the econom cs and potenti al
producti on are not expected to change?
A That is correct.
Q Can you explain -- continuing our
di scussi on on these colums, next is "QOperating
Costs." Can you explain what operating costs are
and gi ve sone exanpl es of operating costs?
A. Yeah, for sure. So |ease operating
costs are costs incurred fromthe day-to-day

operations that occur once the well begins

47
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produci ng. These include variable oil, gas
processing and transportation, water
transportation, and a fixed nonthly cost in
dollars per well per nonth.

Q And you have a table that shows those

operating costs?

A Yes, | do.

Q And that table is on the screen now?
A It is.

Q Wiy don't you just wal k us through the

specifics of what this table shows?

A. Sure. So starting at the top of the
tabl e, you can see that variable oil is estimted
to be $0.30 per barrel. Variable gas is estinated

to be $0.14 per MCF. Variable water is estimted
to be $3.75 per barrel. And fixed operating costs
are estimated to be $7, 184 per nonth.

Q Now, while we are | ooking at the slide,
t he second table there, the table on the bottom

| abel ed June- 2025 strip price; what is that?

A. That is the NYMEX strip price that was
effective at the tinme that this cal culation was
performed in md June.

Q Let's turn back now to the econom cs
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tabl es and continue our discussion. The col umms
working left to right, where we left off was on
our discussion of operating costs. The next
colum to the right is "Capital Costs.” Can you
just describe what capital costs are?

A. Sure. Capital costs are any costs
related with land, drilling, conpletions,

fl owback, facilities, plug and abandonnent, and
recl amati on.

Q Did | hear you nention the capital
costs do include the costs to plugging and
abandonnment, and reclaimthe wells and pad site?
A. Yes, they do.

Q Do you know what those costs are

specifically?

A Yes. $77,000 for P&A and restoration
conbi ned.

Q P&A i s pluggi ng and abandonnent ?

A That is correct.

Q Do you know how those costs are

esti mat ed?
A The operations team nmakes an estinmate

of the current service conpany rates, estinated

j ob duration, and the estimate of the quantity and

49
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prices of materials to performthe plugging
abandon.
Q Continuing our discussion fromleft to

right, the next columm is "Di scounted Val ue of

Estimated Recovery.” Do you see that?

A. | do.

Q What is that?

A. That's just the gross revenue,

excl usi ve of operating costs and capital.

Q Next two columns are | abeled "PV0O" and
"PV10." \Wat are those?

A Present value. That PV stands for
present value. And present value is inclusive of
operating and capital costs that can be
represented at different discount rates to account
for the tinme value of noney. PVO is an

undi scounted val ue and PV10 is a 10 percent

di scount rate appli ed.

Q Are those present val ue nunbers net of

reasonably expected capital costs and operating

expenses?

A. Yes, they are.

Q Last | see a table -- excuse ne. | see
a colum | abel ed "Esti mated Gross Recovery." \What
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Is that?
A. That is the estinmated vol une of
recovered oil and gas in BCFe, which is billion

cubi c feet equival ent.

Q | s estimated gross recovery a financial
measur e?
A It is just an estimted vol une of

production fromthe wells.

Q And you nentioned BCFe is the netric
used to estimate that volune. Wat is BCFe?

A Again that is billion cubic feet

equi valents. And that is used in a six-to-one
ratio of gas to oil.

Q Now t hat we have a better understandi ng
of these colums, let's |ook at the top table nore
specifically. That's the table that shows the
unitized scenario; is that right?

A That's correct.

Q Under that unit scenario, please tel
the Division what you estimate for production

vol unmes, revenue, expenses, costs, and the val ue
of production.

A Sure. So we estimate that our

production volunes will be 42.04 BCFe; that the
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revenue will be 191.52 mllion; operating expenses
will be 56.56 mllion; capital costs wll be 36.64
mllion; PVO will be 73.44 mllion; and PV10 w ||
be 49.68 million.

Q Now, can you tell the Division how

t hose nunbers change in the second table fromthe
top, being the non-unitized scenari0?

A. Sure. Al of those nunbers wll be

| ower because of the Iimted devel opnent that
woul d be possible. And to be nore precise, in the
non-unitized scenari o our production volunes are
estimated to be 31.23 BCFe; the revenue woul d be
142.32 mllion; operating expenses would be

44,74 mllion, capital costs would be

30.12 mllion; PVO, 50.8 mllion; PV10 woul d be
34.12 mllion.

Q Now, I will just close out our

di scussi on of the econom cs table; the differences
you just described in the first and second tables
are what is shown in that third table, correct?

A That is correct.

Q So if we conpare the unitized and
non-unitized scenari os, in your professional

opinion, would the estimated ultimte recovery of
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oil and gas increase substantially if the ORYX
unit could be drilled under an order for unit
operations as conpared to drilling and production
in the non-unitized scenario?

A Yes. | estimate that EOG wi |l recover
an additional 10.81 BCFe of natural gas

equi valents with an order for unit operations as
conpared to the non-unitized scenari o.

Q I n your professional opinion is 10.81
BCFe of natural gas a substantial increase?

A Definitely. To put it in financial
terns, as you can see fromthe bottomtable,

have estimated that 10.81 BCFe of natural gas is
worth a gross value of $49 million, which in ny
experience and opinion is substantial.

Q Let's now focus for a mnute on the
anticipated difference in val ue between the
unitized and non-unitized scenari os.

I n your professional opinion, does the
value of the estinmated additional recovery of oil
and gas with unit operations exceed the estinated
addi tional costs of those unit operations?

A. Yes. This is nost easily denonstrated

by conparing the PV figures. Here, the unit would
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make an additional 22.64 mllion on an

undi scounted net present value basis if unitized,
and 15.56 mllion, even on a 10 percent di scount
to net present.

Q So, M. Dwyer, if | understand your
testinmony correctly, if unit operations are

all owed, the unit nmakes $22.64 mllion nore
revenue on an undi scounted present val ue basis

than if unit operations are not allowed; is that

right?
A. That is our estimate, yes.
Q Thank you
MR. BARONZZI: Those are ny only
questions. The Division will have sone nore

questions for you.

MR, LARGE: Would you be able to tel
me what the estimated economic life of the well
woul d be in years?

THE WTNESS: Qur estinmate is 28 years.

MR. LARGE: And could you give ne the
esti mated payout for the wells at 1 tines, 1.5
times, 2 tines, and 3 tines?

THE WTNESS: Sure. In order, it would

be 1.08, and then that is years, and then 1.58
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years, and then 2.75 years, and then 25.08 years
IS our estimate.
MR, LARGE: kay. And how many wells
are going to be drilled fromthe pad?
THE W TNESS:  Four
MR, LARGE: kay.
THE WTNESS: That is our best estimate
at this tine,
MR. LARGE: Ckay.
Ms. Barrett, do you have any questions?
M5. BARRETT: Yes, | do.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY M5. BARRETT:
Q Were estimated pad costs then shared
equal ly between all four of those wells?
A. Yes, they were.
Q Ckay. Plugging and restoration costs

per well was that 77,0007

A That's correct.

Q What is the estimated BCFe per 1,000
feet?

A 0. 64.

Q What is the estimated recovery factor

55
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In the area?
A We believe that it will be sonmewhere
between 4.5 and 6 percent.
Q Can you explain why the 4C well was not
made a voluntary wel | ?
A. Sure. So in the case of the 4C being
excluded fromthe unit, we believe that there
woul d be two detrinental things that would foll ow,
and it would affect mneral interest owners. The
first is that there would be waste within the
unit, because if the 4C is excluded, production
facilities would double, which neans the size of
the pad would have to increase. And then the
costs to operate the wells would al so increase, so
that would | ower the economc |ifespan of the
wells. It would [ower the total recovery if the
economi c |ifespan were | owered, and then
ultimately all stakehol ders woul d | ose because
there would be | ess recovery in the long run. So
that is reason one.

And then reason two, why we believe it
should be in the unit is let's -- what |'m goi ng
tocall it is "enhanced recovery.”" So let's say

15 years fromnow, we need to inplenent an
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enhanced oil recovery nethod, such as a water
flood or a CO2 recovery, to keep these wells
economcally viable. This is where an operator
woul d punp CO2 or water into one well in order to
enhance the production of another well next door.
In the case of the ORYX 4C and 2C
which well in that case should be chosen as the
injector well? If the 4Cis excluded fromthe
unit and then were to be unlucky enough to be
chosen as the injector well, the mneral interest
hol ders of that well would | ose out on the
econom ¢ benefits that the 2C owners woul d gain.
So it makes sense to unitize it so that
all mneral interest owners can benefit equally in
an enhanced recovery scenario | ater down the road.
Q Ckay. On Exhibit D, the well pad | ooks
like it is closer to two of the wells, yet all the
wel | s have this sane neasured depth on the
econom cs. Can you explain why that is?
A. Yes. So again, the location of the pad
Is -- the lateral lengths will be equal on al
four wells, that is what we will target. And then
in the case of -- and we tried our best to answer

this earlier. But we do expect the neasured depth
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that you see here on the application to deviate
once these are all done, but that has been the
case for previous unitization hearings.

And that deviation of neasured depth
does not affect the productivity nor the capita
cost that we are presenting to you. Because those
estimtes that we gave you today are based on
datasets that also had that very sane deviation,
so this is not unconmon.

Q Ckay. Qur typical orders reference a
total measured depth to be hit by a certain date.
To anticipate you would hit --

A " msorry?

Q Qur typical orders contenplate a tota
nmeasured depth to be hit by a certain date, which
i s based on what was included in the application.
Woul d operati ng expenses change?

A Again, no. The operating expenses are
based on our performance estimtes, so how nmuch
production the wells wll nake and that is a

| ateral | ength consideration.

And then again, capital costs, we do
not expect to change because the pool or the

dat asets of wells that we use to estinate how nuch
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these wells will cost to drill, have these very
same vari ations baked into the pie.

So it's true for every well that's on
t he anal ogue well list that we have. Really,
every well that we have drilled here at ECG has
t hese very common devi ati ons from nmeasur ed dept h,
where the wells need to kick out further or go at
a different inclination angle. This is all put
Into the dataset that rendered our estimates for
the capital costs, the operating costs, and the
per f or mnce.

Q Ckay.

M5. BARRETT: No further questions for
me at this tine.

MR. LARGE: Thank you.

So once again, if you would like to
make comments, |I'mfirst going to take all your
nanmes and note whether you are an unl eased m nera
owner, working interest owner, or an owner wth
property in the unit.

Only one person nay speak at a tinme to
properly record the hearing and pl ease nute your
m crophone once you have delivered your comrents

or questions to avoid any feedback. Additionally,
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anyone speaking today will be asked to provide
their information to the court reporter. |If you

are unconfortabl e speaki ng during the hearing, we

wll also accept witten comments.

Now, | have M. Corcoran down, and |
wi |l now ask for anyone el se that w shes to make
comrent s.

So if you have joined us via WbEx and
woul d I'i ke to nmake any conmments, please unnute
yoursel f now and state your nane.

Heari ng none.

| f you have joined us via phone and
would like to --

MR, HOWE: Davi d.

MR, LARGE: Ch, sorry.

MR. HOAE: David Howe. David Howe on
WebEX.

MR, LARGE: And are you an unl eased
m neral owner?

MR HONE: | ama | eased m neral owner

MR, LARGE: Ckay.

MR. HOAE: | have 12.94 acres. But we
were not sent a packet because the survey was done

in May. So | don't think it was -- but ny parents
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were sent the packets and we are part of --

MR LARCGE: M. Howe.

MR HONE: Yes.

MR. LARGE: Before | take any comments,
can | get you sworn in real quick?

MR HONE: Yes.

(David Howe, having been duly sworn,
testifies as follows.)

MR LARGE: Go ahead, sir.

MR. HOAE: Ckay. | actually had a
coupl e questions. | noticed that we are on the
bottom end in the southeast corner, beyond the
green properties on the map, so beyond the
non-consenting properties. And | also noticed
that ny parents' property, that the 400-f oot
set back extends onto their property.

And nmy two questions would be if the
uni ti zation does not go through, or if the
non-consenting mneral owners do not cone to an
agreenent or a lease, then if we are on the
opposite side of the non-consenting | and, |ike
opposite side of where the wellhead w il be.

Wul d that exclude us fromthe well and from
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royalties in the future?

And then | guess --.

MR DWER |'mgoing to have ny -- go
ahead, M. Howe.

MR, HOWNE: Ckay. M other question was
just in regards to that 400-foot setback. Does
that affect -- since that cones onto ny parents'
property, would that affect their royalties?
Because |'mnot sure if that 400-foot setback --

I f that prevents mnerals from being taken in that
400-f oot setback, or is that strictly for, say,

i ke, the horizontal wellbore? And that's all
had.

MR DWER Sure. |'magoing to swap
out with ny |andman Dax Taylor, M. Howe, and he
will get you an answer right now.

MR, TAYLOR: Ckay. M. Howe, again
this is Dax Tayl or, |andman, EOG

| believe the answer to your first
question has to do wth, should we not receive a
unitization order, would we still develop the
property?

This is the unit configuration that we

have planned to drill the nbost economc wells. W
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are also locked into this configuration on the
west side by the Gazelle and are not | ocked in on
the south side. So should we ultimately not
receive a unit order, it would be contenpl at ed
drilling this in another fashion. Maybe in the
future, should some sort of market conditions
change. But at this tine, this is the only viable
way to do it.

That setback |ine shows us the
difference in drilling this in a unitized versus
non-uniti zed way, which ends up giving us the
di fferent econom c outcones that John had
present ed.

So to answer your question, we woul d
not conplete the sections inside that setback
should it be drilled that way. But we have proven
it's less economic. So our intentionis to
proceed forward with the plan that is put in place
in this hearing and ultimately drill these wells
under an order, should it be issued.

MR. BARONZZI: Dax, if you don't m nd,
can you just clarify if an order for unit
operations is issued, and in that situation, how

would M. Howe's property be devel oped and woul d
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t hose 400-foot setbacks matter at that point?

MR. TAYLOR  Yeah, those woul d go away
should a unit order be issued. Because we woul d
be devel oping themas if everything inside the
unit was yellow, effectively.

MR. HOWNE: Ckay. Thank you.

MR, BARONZZI: So, M. Howe, | think
the short answer to your question is if a
unitization order is granted, all of the setback
| ines and that kind of thing are sort of
nullified. And the unit woul d be devel oped as if
everything was | eased and consenting. But that is
not the sanme if an order for unit operations is
not granted. Then -- and | think the testinony
was, it could not be developed this way. And I'm
not sure how it would be devel oped, if ever.

MR, LARGE: kay. Thank you.

Ckay. M. Corcoran, are you still on
t her e?

MR, CORCORAN: Yes, | am Can you hear

MR. LARGE: Yep. | can hear you.

Can we get himsworn in, please.
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(Dan Corcoran, having been duly sworn,
testifies as follows.)

MR. CORCORAN: Ckay. Good afternoon,
everyone. M nane is Dan Corcoran. |'m an
attorney for Lucky Land Managenent. Lucky Land
Managenent does not own any mneral rights that
woul d be affected by the proposed ORYX unit. But
It does own the surface of the property where the
wel | pads are proposed to be constructed. And
that is why |I'm here today.

Lucky Land is currently in a dispute
wi th EOCG about whether or not it is permtted to
construct its well pads on our property. EOGG
wants to do it there. And it had first conme to ny
client in 2023 with a proposal to do that, to
enter into a surface use agreenent. No agreenent
was reached. EOG said that if an agreenent was
not reached, that it would sue Lucky Land. And it
did sue Lucky Land in Federal District Court for
the Sout hern District of Ohio.

It's seeking to use -- initially, it
wanted a little over 45 acres of ny client's
property to build its well pads. And then there

were sone discussions after that where they

65
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t hought they mght be able to get it down as | ow
as 35 acres, or alittle bit nore than that. So
It is a pretty substantial anmount of acreage of ny
client's property that would be affected either
way .

This is the problemfor ny client
because he bought the property as part of a
busi ness in which he develops land to turn it into
a hunting property for whitetail deer. And after
he bought the property, he spent thousands of
man- hours and hundreds of thousands of dollars. |
think we said in our witten comments, it was
about $590,000 total. And what he spent on this
property, that includes, by the way, about
$300, 000 to clear about 60 acres of his property
for some food plots, which al so happened to be the
| ocation that EOCG wants to take in order to use
for the developnent of its well pad. So this is
not sonething that ny client wants to have
happened, did not want to agree to it, didn't want
to sign the surface use agreenent.

So as | said, EOG sued ny client in
| ate 2023. They asserted that they had the right

to do it. That they just have the right to do it,
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and we had no right to block them W were not
entitled to anything from EOG s perspective. They
just should have been able to cone on the property
and take our land and build their well pads.

They asked for an injunction -- for the
court to issue an injunction so that we would be
prevented fromnot allowing themto cone on the
property and do what they wanted to do. There was
a hearing on the injunction request, and the
district court granted that injunction initially.
Thi s woul d have been in February of 2024.

W filed an appeal of that injunction,
whi ch was our right. W asked for the district
court to suspend the injunction while that appeal
was pending. The district court did not get
around to ruling on that request either way until
after the end of March, which was EOG s deadl i ne
for it to cut the trees on the property, because
of the protected bat species. So that is what it
did; it cane on the property, cut down all the
trees wwthin a 35-acre area of the property while
the notion to suspend the injunction was pendi ng.
The district court still had not gotten around to

It by that tine.

67
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So since we were tired of waiting, we
went to the court of appeals and asked if they
woul d stay the injunction order and they did,
thankfully. So EOG did not take any further steps
after that to continue the construction of its
wel | pad and to cause further damage to ny
client's property.

Now i n the course of the appeal, there
were briefs that were filed and there were
argunents that were nmade. And the court of

appeals -- this is the Sixth Crcuit Court of

Appeals in Cncinnati. They nmade the decision
earlier this year. | think it m ght have been
April -- sonmething like that. And we attached the

decision to our comrents so you can read the whol e
thing if you want to, and | hope you wll.

They reversed the injunction order that
had been issued by the district court. And the
reason they did that is because they believed that
EOG was not likely to prevail on its clains. That
Is, it'"'s not likely town in its argunents that
it has the right to conme onto the property, to
build its well pads there.

And t hat deci sion was nade based on the

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

69

Sixth CGrcuit's understanding of Chio |aw, of
course. And it was al so nade based on the
| anguage in the particul ar deeds that are at
I ssue, in our case; under which the mnerals were
separated fromthe surface of the property. There
were five or six deeds fromthe |late 1950s and
early 1960s where those rights were separat ed.
And when that separation occurred, the deeds could
have had | anguage in them giving the m neral owner
the right to use the property, not just to produce
the underlying oil and gas, which we don't have an
objection to, but to use the surface of the
property to produce fromthousands of acres of
other land, which is of course, what EOGis trying
to do in this case.

It doesn't just want to produce the oil
and gas beneath our property where the pads are
| ocated. It wants to produce fromthis nmassive
unit covering thousands of acres that stretches
across the entirety of a township.

We don't think they had the right to do
t hat under the deeds and under Chio law. And the
court of appeals agreed, or at least it agreed

that the injunction should not have been issued.
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That is why it said EOG was not likely to prevail
on the case.

So the case goes back down to the
district court because it's not over yet. And
upon it being remanded to the district court, we
filed a notion with the court asking it to dismss
EOG s clains against us in their entirety, because
It didn't appear to us, based on the deeds and
based on the law, that they had any nerit. They
don't have the right to do that. W want the
district court to make a final determnation to
that effect. And that notion is pending right
now. W are waiting for the district court to
make a ruling on that.

At about the sanme tine that was
happeni ng, EOCG asked the district court to put the
entire case on hold because it wanted to do what
It's attenpting to do right now, which is to get a
unitization order fromthe Division that woul d
allowit to drill these wells and to construct the
pads on our property.

EOCG has told us and it has told the
district court that once it gets this unitization

order, it's going to be able to build these pads.

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

kay. It's going to sonehow change the court's
anal ysis about what it can and can't do on the
surface of our property. And we disagree with
that. | hope we nade that clear in the witten
comments, we don't think that is the case. W
don't think that is Chio law. | have tal ked about
that -- the reasons for that in our comments.

And | don't want to totally rehash
everything that we said in there, but | wll
briefly try to summarize it. W were pointing out
the distinction between mneral rights, which are
correlative, and surface rights, which are not.
We are tal king about surface rights here. So
what ever authority the Division has to create
units, and it does have authority under the
statute 1509. 28, that does not give it the
authority to take away our |and, the surface of
our |and that we are using for a business, for a
commercial investnent. [It's just not intended to
apply to surface rights at all; that should have
nothing to do with it.

That is one thing. But then we also
said, in addition to that, even if the Division

believes or if EOG believes that this statute can
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somehow confer on it additional surface rights on
our property, that it should not apply to us.

That statute should not operate to take away our
surface rights. And the reason for that is
because the statute was not enacted in Chio until
1965. And as | nentioned earlier, the mnerals
were separated fromthe surface prior to that. It
was in the late '50s and early 1960s, all before
1965.

And under the Chio Constitution, the
| egi sl ature can't enact statutes and apply them
retroactively. So from our position, whatever
rights EOG has to use the surface, it was
del i neated when that separation took place, when
t hose deeds were signed and delivered. And the
statute that was enacted after that can't change
it.

And then the third thing that we said
was, again, we don't think the statute has
anything to do with surface rights. Even if it
did, it does not apply to us. But even if it did
apply to us, and even if it did affect surface
rights, we don't believe that it is constitutional

for it to apply to us if we are not given

72
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conpensation for the |and that they are taking
from us.

You know, property rights, private
property rights are protected in Ghio. And we do
not think that the unitization statute is a
condemation statute. W don't think that EOG can
use it as a taking, like the State would do if
It'"s going to build a road on our property, for
exanple. W would get paid for that if that
happened. W don't think that's what this statute
iIs. But if that's the way EOG s going to treat
it, if that's the way the Division's going to
treat it, then we should be entitled to
conpensation for the 35-plus acres at |east, that
they plan to take away from us.

And if we do not receive any reasonable
conpensation for that, then the statute is
unconstitutional. Okay. Now, | don't actually
think the statute is unconstitutional. | don't
think it should apply to us in the first place.

So that's our position. That was the basis for
our objection.

And the other thing that | wanted to

point out is since EOG does not have the right to

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

74

build the well pads where it has proposed right
now, and it does not, this proposal that the
Division is being asked to consider here today is
hypot hetical. |If they are not able to put the pad
there, will they be able to drill this unit, the
one that they proposed? The one that has shown up
on the maps and we have all these cal cul ations
for. EOG has told us that they woul d not be able
to do that.

In fact, we have suggested, we have
encouraged them and we have said, hey, there is a
nei ghbori ng | andowner; we think he m ght be
wlling to put a well pad on his property. Wy
don't you talk to himinstead of us? [It's right

next door to us. And EOG has said, no, we are not

going to do that. W can't do that. It would not
be possible for us to drill the units that we want
todrill if we had to put the well pad anywhere

ot her than on Lucky Land's property.

And so if you know -- so it is
hypot hetical. W don't know whether any of this
is true or not. And if they do have to change
their plans, it could affect the units thensel ves,

I ncluding the size and the shape of the unit, it
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coul d change the length of the laterals. So we do
not think that the Division should be issuing a
unit order on sonething that is purely

hypot heti cal, because they don't have the ability
to build the pads -- to drill the wells in the
first place.

The other thing that | wanted to point
out about the application, and there was a
question about this earlier from M. Barrett.

t hi nk she was aski ng about the ORYX NSH 4C. Wy
Is that part of this unit application? According
to the map, all the acreage that woul d be affected
by that particular well, it is |eased and they
have all consented to unit operations. Wy are
they putting that in there? It did not seemlike
they would need to do it.

There was a simlar question this
nmor ni ng when we had a hearing on the Gazelle unit.
There is a well in the Gazelle unit that does not
appear to need a unit order in order for themto
unitize it and drill their well. Wy don't they
just go ahead and unitize it right now?

Well, the reason they don't want to do

It right nowis because they want the unit order.
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They want to take it back to the lawsuit that we
are currently involved in. And they want to point
to that and say, hey |look, the State of Chio says
we can do this. The State of Chio says that we
are allowed to drill these wells and put the pads
where we want. COkay. That is the reason they put
that in.

The excuses they cane up with today
about why they included those wells in this unit
application don't nmake any sense. They said that
they would need to build a | arger pad for sone
reason, but there was no explanation for why that
Is. They said that the operating costs would be
nore; no explanation for why that is. They also
said that it would result in problens if, maybe 15
years down the road, they wanted to engage in sone
ki nd of enhanced recovery. And the problemfrom
their perspective would be that it would just
di sproportionately affect the mneral owners. And
they are really concerned about the inpact it
woul d have on the mineral owners. That's bal oney,
okay.

| f they wanted to do sone kind of

enhanced recovery, secondary recovery 15 years
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fromnow, and if they really needed a unit order,
then they could apply for it at that time. That
IS not the reason they are doing it. They are
doing it to shove it down our throats and to get
this unit order to gain an advantage in a | awsuit,
whi ch is an abuse of this whol e process.

So | think that there are sonme serious
guestions for EOG Renenber the standard here is
that the D vision should issue the order if it is
reasonably necessary, right? Reasonably
necessary?

In the case of the ORYX 4C, it is not
necessary at all. There is no reason why you
should issue a unit order for that well. And they
have not given any evidence to the Division today
as to why they need it. You should deny their
application for that reason. They don't need it.

And there's a nunber of questions --
and | understand |"mnot permtted to ask
questions to EOG  So | would just suggest -- here
are sonme questions that | have, and |I' m wondering
I f anybody el se has them

We have been tal king about this. Can

ECG still drill the unit it has proposed if it is
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unable to construct its wall pads on Lucky Land's
property? Again, ny understanding is that the
answer is no, but 1'd be curious to hear what the
EOCG answer is today --

MS. BARRETT: M. Corcoran, not --

MR. CORCORAN. And to have an answer to
t hat under oath.

M5. BARRETT: Not to interrupt you.
You are permtted to ask questions.

MR. CORCORAN:. Ckay. Well, then maybe
Il will go through ny questions. And | don't know
If you want me to do themone at a tine, or if ECG
woul d want -- maybe list themall and then you can
respond to thenf

Chris, what would be your preference?

MR. BARONZZI: | will let the Division
deci de how best to nanage the heari ng.

M5. BARRETT: Yeah. | think one at a
time makes the nost sense for us.

MR, CORCORAN: Ckay. Al right.

So again, ny first question for EOG is
can it still drill the unit that it has
proposed -- the ORYX unit, if it is unable to

construct its well pad on Lucky Land's property?
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M5. BARRETT: M. Baronzzi, if you or
sonmeone fromthe Applicant has a response to that
questi on.

MR. BARONZZI: Yeah. |If |I may, | have
an objection to M. Corcoran and Lucky Land
Managenent's attenpt to interject itself in these
unit proceedi ngs. You know, we can answer,
hopeful Iy, sonme of these questions to the extent
possi bl e.

But | feel conpelled up front here just
to make the objection, that as M. Corcoran
I ndi cated, his client is not a mneral owner, not
a working interest owner, has no other interest in
the mnerals. He is an owner of a surface. He is
not even listed in the application for
unitization. And that is because he has no
interest in the unitized formtion.

And EOG is not asking for any specific
finding or decision about surface rights in this
case. EOG just wants a standard order for
uni tizati on.

Now, in this case, M. Corcoran has
gone through a long history of litigation and the

back-and-forth that has happened in court between
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ECG and his client. And EOG strongly believes
that the issues raised by M. Corcoran are
appropriate to continue to be litigated in that
federal district court litigation and not before
t he Departnent of Natural Resources.

| do want to point out that EOCG does
have an oil and gas | ease on M. Corcoran's
client's property and has express rights through
the deeds that severed the mnerals from
M. Corcoran's client's property -- has express
rights to use the surface in connection with those
m ner al s.

And agai n, you know, all of those
rights and exactly what the extent of those rights
are, are subject to current litigation. Any of
t he deci sions that have been descri bed by
M. Corcoran fromthe Southern District Court or
fromthe Sixth Circuit, are all -- all relate to a
prelimnary injunction. There is no final order
on any of this yet. EOGis not trying to take, as
M. Corcoran has described it, you know, seize his
client's property. It is just trying to exercise
the rights that were reserved in the severance

deeds and that it has under the | ease.
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And then, you know, to the extent that
M. Corcoran believes that EOGis trying to gain
sone advantage through unitization, you know, it's
just trying to exercise the rights it has and
foll ow the suggestion fromthe Sixth Crcuit,
where the Sixth Grcuit's decision on the
prelimnary injunction said that -- recogni ze that
EOG pl ans to beconme a unit operator; it had not
done so yet at the tine that decision was issued.
But it said that if and when it does becone a unit
operator, the Sixth Crcuit said it could change
the calculus of its analysis of the parties
respective rights.

So, you know, there is a |lot of |egal
anal ysis here. There is a |lot of |egal dispute
that is best left before the Southern District
Court. And so | just want to rmake clear up front
that we object to M. Corcoran trying to litigate
this matter before the Departnent of Natura
Resources. And we woul d encourage the Chief to
| eave any deci sion about surface rights to the
courts. And if and when an order is issued for
unitization, to just issue a standard order, which

Is all that EOG s application requests.
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Now, | appreciate you indul gi ng ny
objection. | think the question is, would EOG in
fact drill these wells if it could not use the
surface of the Lucy Land Managenent's property?
Was that the first question?

MR, CORCORAN:. Yes.

MR, BARONZZI: To answer that question,
Il will bring Dax Taylor, |and specialists, back in
her e.

So, Dax, can you give an answer to
t hat ?

MR. TAYLOR: Yeah, sure. So this
unit -- and as it's laid out, is a conbination of
anal ysi s by many nenbers of our team And so this
Is the only way that we would drill these wells
fromthe current |ayout.

M5. BARRETT: (kay. Thank you.

MR. CORCORAN:. Okay. Al right. And I
appreci ate the answer. |'mnot satisfied by it,
but | guess it is what it is.

| do think it is interesting that EOG
Is objecting to our involvenent in this case.

They want to be able to get their unit order.

They do not want us to be able to participate or
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offer cooment. But they are not saying they won't
use the unit order against us in the lawsuit.

They are just saying they don't want us to have
any say in whether it is issued or not.

Ckay. Another question that | have for
ECG is that if the pad has to be built sonewhere
el se other than on Lucky Land's property, which is
proposed, would it change the size or shape of the
unit, or the length and | ocation of the |aterals?

MR. BARONZZI: You know, M. Taylor, to
the extent you can answer. | nean, | -- do we
have -- does EOG have any other options for
building this wall pad? To drill these units or
devel op these units in this way, el sewhere?

MR. TAYLOR: Not at this tine.

MR. BARONZZI: And do you have any
comment about what m ght happen if it has to nove
the well pad to sone other |ocation? Do we know
how that m ght affect the devel opnent plan?

MR, TAYLOR | think it is too
hypot hetical at this tine.

M5. BARRETT: Yeah. This is the
application that is pending before us. It is what

the Division is here nmaking a decision on today.
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You can proceed with any ot her
guesti ons you have, M. Corcoran.

MR, CORCORAN: Ckay. So it does not
sound |i ke there has been any anal ysis on how a
different well pad |ocation would affect recovery,
is what it sounds |iKke.

If EOGis not seeking to obtain any
addi tional surface rights through this proceeding
that it does not already have, then why is it
objecting to the alternative relief that we
requested in our coments and our objection, which
was that if the order is issued, that the Division
shoul d expressly state that it does not give ECG
any additional surface rights in the property
beyond what it would have if the order had not
been i ssued?

M5. BARRETT: M. Baronzzi, do you have
an explanation as to why EOG is asking for the
standard order and the situation for this
application?

MR. BARONZZI: Yeah, certainly. |
mean, EOG only expects to receive a unitization
order that is -- in keeping with the orders issued

by the Chief, dozens or hundreds of tines, you
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know, over the last many years. It is not asking
for anything new or unique regarding surface
rights.

But on the flip side, there is a
conplicated history and a variety of contracts,
deeds, | eases, and case |aw that inpacts EOG s
right to use the surface of Lucky Land Managenents
property. And we do think it would be
| nappropriate for the Division to go out on a linb
and make specific findings or decisions about
surface rights, w thout having the benefit of al
of the evidence and case law. And the fact of the
matter is, those issues are pending before the
Southern District Court and should be left before
the Southern District Court.

MR, CORCORAN: Ckay. Well, let's focus
on your application here and specifically, the
ORYX NSH 4C. | talked a little bit earlier about
how it does not appear fromthe materials that |
have that there are any non-consenting or unl eased
properties related to that well.

And | think in the answer that EOCG gave
earlier about that and why it was included in the

application, has sonething to do with the size of
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the well pad that it would need to build -- to
drill that well as opposed to, if it's voluntarily
or involuntarily pool ed.

So can EOG provi de any explanation for
why it needs an even larger well pad? Wich by
the way, would affect ny client even nore. Wy
does it need to have a larger well pad if
sonmet hing's voluntarily pool ed versus pooled with
a unit order? And | guess while you are on the
topic, | think the result said sonething about
operating costs. Wiy would it have any effect on
what the operating costs are for that particul ar
well if it does not get this unit order?

M5. BARRETT: M. Dwyer, | think that
was your testinony. |If you are able to el aborate
alittle further for purposes of our record, why
there woul d be additional costs with using that as
a voluntary unit, that woul d be appreciated.

MR. DWER  Yeah, sure. So the short
answer is that our production facilities set up on
a well pad that has a single unit can be | eaner,
because we can with confidence use | ess equi pnent
to allocate appropriately which production goes to

what well. Because at the end of the day, the
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unitization is a shared pool.

If there were to be a situation where
on the sane pad we have a well that is not a part
of that unit, we need to have nore production
equi prent facilities that will appropriately
all ocate to the separate units at the appropriate
all ocations. Those additional facilities take up
space, so that is why we said that it would have a
spaci ng i npact. And having additional facilities,
of course, raises your operating costs.

And again, the termnal life of the
wells are quite sensitive at the end of its life
when it is making the | east anmount of hydrocarbon
It's going to make. It is very easy to have the
profitabl e beconme not profitable and term nate
that termnal life. And so that, of course, neans
that we produced for less tine, so we nade | ess
nol ecul es, so the recovery was |ower. And that
has inplications for all stakeholders; it's bad
for ECG i1t's bad for mneral interest owners, and
it's bad for the State of OChio.

MR. BARONZZI: M. Dwyer, |If | may ask,
why do you think it is inportant to treat these

m neral owners in this area simlarly?
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MR. DWER  Well again, we want to pool
the shared incentive structure for this particular
unit because it maximzes. It is the best chance,
I n our professional opinion, to maxi mze the nost
anount of recovery for everyone that is in this
section, of course, including ECG and that is the
basis of that. And so if we Bal kanized this, in
our opinion, it will make it very likely that that
does not occur.

MR, CORCORAN: What ny foll ow up
guestion is, what are those production facilities
that you are referring to in your answer; what is
t hat ?

MR. DWYER  Separ at ors.

MR. CORCORAN: Ckay. So you need to
have an additional separator on the well pad, is
t hat what you are sayi ng?

MR DWER It is ny understandi ng we
will have multiple separators. Now that is a
facility engi neering and producti on engi neering
question; we can go pretty deep into the weeds
here and |'m a reservoir engineer.

But, yes. It is -- ny understanding is

Its separators are one of the production
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facilities.

MR, CORCORAN: Is there anything el se
besi des t he separator?

MR DWER | do not know.

MR, CORCORAN: Ckay. So for the sake
of a separator, that well, and | guess also the
nei ghboring Gazelle well, you want to have those
included in larger units rather than having them
be their own voluntary unit; is that what you are
sayi ng?

MR, BARONZZI: Well, I'mnot sure that
characterizes all the explanation that was given.
| think --

M5. BARRETT: Yeah. There was a part
provi ded that included spacing as well. So, yeah.
Under st ood.

MR. DWER  You nean the enhanced
recovery expl anation?

MR. CORCORAN: Yeah. That was al so
part of your earlier answer, wasn't it? The
enhanced recovery? That is why you wanted to have
this part of the unit for these other three wells?

MR. DWER That is why it would not

make sense to have the 4C out of the unit; one of
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t he reasons, yes.

MR, CORCORAN. Do you need to have it
in the unit now in order to engage in a secondary
recovery 10 or 15 years down the road?

MR DWER | don't -- someone el se?

MR. BARONZZI: Yeah. |f you don't
know, just say you don't know.

MR. DWER  Yeah. | don't know.

MR, BARONZZI: |If | may.

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR BARONZZI :
Q M. Dwyer, are you aware, do adjacent
wel I's sonetines have an effect on each other?
Does drilling wells in sequence next to each ot her
have sone effect on one another?
A. Definitely. Wth timng and -- yes.
Q And in this case, we have heard
testinony that all these m neral owners are part
of a common pool, correct?
A That's correct.
Q And is that why we want to treat them
the same and not have differences in production

and costs and that kind of thing?
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A That is correct.

MR. CORCORAN. So is the comment t hat
you made about secondary or enhanced recovery, is
that solely based on concern for the nei ghboring
m neral owners, or does it create any problemfor
ECG and its devel opnent of the shared pool ?

MR DWER It's hard for ne to say
how -- that's hard for ne to say with the
i nformation | have in front of ne.

MR. CORCORAN: Ckay. Well, | don't
think I have any other questions. | appreciate
the opportunity to ask the questions that | have.

And I w il just conclude by saying that
we object to the unit application. W do not
think that it is reasonably necessary, and at
| east with respect to the well that does not have
any unl eased or non-consenting acreage.

We do think that this is an abuse of
the unitization process, frankly. That they are
trying to go through this process to get a unit
order to use against ny client, the surface owner,
in a pending lawsuit. Notice they are not
prom sing not to do that; they are promsing to do

that. W do not think it should have any effect

Realtinme - Videoconferencing - Trial Presentation - Video
Spectrum Reporting LLC | 614-444-1000




© 00 N o g M~ O w N P

[EEN
o

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

92

on our client's rights. And so we think that it
shoul d be deni ed.

But if it is not denied, the Division
shoul d make clear, that that's not the purpose of
unitization. |It's not to give EOCG or any ot her
unit operator the right to do sonmething on the
surface of our property or anybody el se's property
that they would not otherw se have. Thank you.

MR. LARGE: Thank you.

Ms. Barrett, do you have any additi onal
guestions for the Applicant?

M5. BARRETT: No, | do not. Thank you.

MR. LARGE: And does the Applicant have
any cl osing remarks?

MR. BARONZZI: M. Dwer's testinony
concludes EOG s presentation of evidence today.
EOG believes it has denonstrated that its
application for unit operations of the ORYX NSH
unit neets the requirenents of a Revised Code
1509.28. And therefore asks the Division to issue
Its standard order for unit operations and to
rej ect Lucky Land Managenent's request for the
Di vision to nake specific findings or decisions

about EOCG and Lucky Land Managenent surface
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rights. Thank you.
MR. LARGE: Thank you, everyone.
Wth that, the hearing is now

concl uded.

Ther eupon, the foregoi ng proceedi ngs

concluded at 4:04 p. m
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State of Chio : CERTI FI CATE
County of Franklin: SS

|, Bridget Mary Hoye, a Notary Public in and
for the State of Chio, do hereby certify that |
transcri bed or supervised the transcription of the
audi o recordi ng of the aforenenti oned proceedi ngs;
that the foregoing is a true record of the
pr oceedi ngs.

| do further certify I amnot a relative,
enpl oyee or attorney of any of the parties hereto,
and further I amnot a relative or enployee of any
attorney or counsel enployed by the parties
hereto, or financially interested in the action.

| N WTNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set ny
hand and affixed ny seal of office at Col unbus,
Chi o, on Septenber 12, 2025.

Bri dget Mary Hoye, Notary Public - State of Chio
My conm ssion expires April 14, 2030.
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Unitized Scenario

Undiscounted Estimated
Value of Gross
Lateral Measured Operating Capital Estimated PVO PV10 Recovery
Well Name Length (ft) Depth (ft) Costs (MMS) Costs (MMS$) Recovery (MMS) (MMS) (MMS) (BCFe)
ORYX NSH 1D 16360 23360 14.14 9.16 47.88 18.36 12.42 10.51
ORYX NSH 2C 16360 23360 14.14 9.16 47.88 18.36 12.42 10.51
ORYX NSH 3D 16360 23360 14.14 9.16 47.88 18.36 12.42 10.51
ORYX NSH 4C 16360 23360 14.14 9.16 47.88 18.36 12.42 10.51
Total: | 65440 93440 56.56 36.64 191.52 73.44 49.68 42.04
Non-Unitized Scenario
Undiscounted Estimated
Value of Gross
Lateral Measured Operating Capital Estimated PVO PV10 Recovery
Well Name Length (ft) Depth (ft) Costs (MMS) Costs (MMS) Recovery (MMS) (MMS) (MMS) (BCFe)
ORYX NSH 1D 15234 23360 13.17 9.16 43.93 16.13 10.80 9.64
ORYX NSH 2C 9748 16748 9.51 6.15 28.53 Q.77 6.62 6.26
ORYX NSH 3D 7620 15647 7.92 5.65 21.98 6.54 428 4.82
ORYX NSH 4C 16360 23360 14.14 9.16 47.88 18.36 12.42 10.51
Total: | 48962 79115 4474 30.12 142.32 50.80 34.12 31.23
Difference
Undiscounted Estimated
Value of Gross
Lateral Measured Operating Capital Estimated PVO PV10 Recovery
Well Name Length (ft) Depth (ft) Costs (MMS) Costs (MMS) Recovery (MMS) (MMS) (MMS) (BCFe)
ORYX NSH 1D 1126 - 0.97 - 3.95 2.23 1.62 0.87
ORYX NSH 2C 6612 6612 4.63 3.01 19.35 8.59 5.80 4.25
ORYX NSH 3D 8740 7713 6.22 3.51 25.90 11.82 8.14 5.69
ORYX NSH 4C - - - - - - - -
Total: | 16478 14325 11.82 6.52 49.20 22.64 15.56 10.81




Operating Stream Operating Cost
Variable QOil (S/bbl) $ 0.30
Variable Gas (S/mcf) $ 0.14
Variable Water (S/bbl) $ 3.75
Fixed Op Costs (S/month) $ 7,184.00

June 2025 STRIP PRICE

Oil Price

Year (S/bbl) Gas Price (S/mcf)
2025 65.11 3.48

2026 60.97 3.86

2027 61.32 3.84

2028 61.96 3.75

2029 62.41 3.63

LIFE 65.00 3.50



Analogue Well Map
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Analogue Wells Used in Reserve Calculation Analysis

Oryx NSH Unit

Brookfield, Olive, Noble & Sharon Township

Noble County, OH

WELL LABEL API LATERAL LENGTH PRODUCTION SHL TO SHL

NAME NUMBER NUMBER (FT) START DATE (FT)
BROOKFIELD NBK15 #3A 1 34121246550000 12,114 10/15/2022 3.09 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 #2A 2 34121246610100 15,550 3/24/2024 2.89 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 #4A 3 34121246620000 15,374 3/24/2024 2.89 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 H#6A 4 34121246630000 15,529 3/24/2024 2.89 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 #8A 5 34121246640100 15,456 3/24/2024 2.89 miles
BROOKFIELD NO 15 SE1 HPA 6 34121246490000 13,239 12/1/2020 3.10 miles
SABLE NBK16 #2A 7 34121246570000 19,458 7/24/2024 3.33 miles
SABLE NBK16 #4A 8 34121246580000 15,548 7/24/2024 3.33 miles
SABLE NBK16 #6A 9 34121246590000 15,535 7/24/2024 3.33 miles
SABLE NBK16 #8A 10 34121246600000 15,541 7/24/2024 3.33 miles
MEIGS-MU-23SE 1HPA HPA 11 34119288120000 13,231 2/15/2021 6.17 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 #11B 12 34121246740000 15,549 11/21/2024 2.88 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 #5B 13 34121246750000 15,425 11/21/2024 2.88 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 #7B 14 34121246720000 15,552 11/21/2024 2.88 miles
WHITE RHINO NBK14 #9B 15 34121246730000 15,540 11/21/2024 2.88 miles
ORYX NSH 1D 16 N/A 16,360 N/A 0.00 miles
ORYX NSH 2C 17 N/A 16,360 N/A 0.00 miles
ORYX NSH 3D 18 N/A 16,360 N/A 0.00 miles
ORYX NSH 4C 19 N/A 16,360 N/A 0.00 miles




Adjacent Well Map
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Adjacent Well Table

NUMBER WELL NAME API
1 GAZELLE NSH 1D PLANNED LATERAL
> GAZELLE NSH 2C PLANNED LATERAL
3 GAZELLE NSH 3D PLANNED LATERAL
a GAZELLE NSH 4C PLANNED LATERAL
5 ORYX NSH 2C PLANNED LATERAL
6 ORYX NSH 4C PLANNED LATERAL
7 ORYX NSH 1D PLANNED LATERAL
=) ORYX NSH 3D PLANNED LATERAL
o) FREC NOBL SHARON A-1H 34121243480100
10 CHEETAH NSH 2C PLANNED LATERAL
11 CHEETAH NSH 4C PLANNED LATERAL
12 CHEETAH NSH 6C PLANNED LATERAL
13 FREC NOBL BROOKFIELD A 3H 34121243500100
14 DEERE NBK 7B 34121246940000
15 DEERE NBK 5B 34121246930000
16 DEERE NBK 3B 34121246920000
17 DEERE NBK 1B 34121246910000
18 DEERE NBK S8A 34121246790000
10 DEERE NBK 6A 34121246780000
20 DEERE NBK 4A 34121246770000
21 DEERE NBK 2A 34121246760000
22 SABLE NBK16 8A 34121246600000
>3 SABLE NBK16 B6A 34121246500000
24 SABLE NBK16 4A 34121246580000
25 SABLE NBK16 2A 34121246570000
26 BROOKFIELD-NO-15SE__1HPA 34121246490100
>7 WHITE RHINO NBK14 8A 34121246640000
28 WHITE RHINO NBK14 6A 34121246630000
20 WHITE RHINO NBK14 4A 34121246620000
30 WHITE RHINO NBK14 2A 34121246610000
31 BISON NNB 4A PLANNED LATERAL
32 BISON NNB 2A PLANNED LATERAL
33 BISON NNB 3B PLANNED LATERAL
34 WHITE RHINO NBK 14 #58 34121246750000
35 WHITE RHINO NBK 14 #0B 34121246730000
36 WHITE RHINO NBK14 #7B 34121246720000
37 WHITE RHINO NBK14 #118B 34121246740000
38 BROOKFIELD NBK15 3A 34121246550000
30 GEMSBOK NNB 1C 34121246880000
40 GEMSBOK NNB 3C 34121246890000
a1 GEMSBOK NNB 5C 34121246900000
a2 OSPREY NBK 1C PLANNED LATERAL
a3 OSPREY NBK 3C PLANNED LATERAL

FREC NOBL OLIVE A-1H

34121243490100
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